2007

Lawrence Brown, Marilyn Brown, Joseph Sorenson, and Kathleen Sorenson, individuals v. The Division of Water Rights of the Department of Natural Resources of the State of Utah, Jerry D. Olds, in his capacity as the Utah State Engineer, and James A. McIntyre, an individual : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal involves the legal standard for standing. Plaintiffs/Appellants Lawrence Brown, Marilyn Brown, Joseph Sorenson, and Kathleen Sorenson (“Plaintiffs”) and Defendant/Appellee James A. McIntyre (“McIntyre”) are neighbors residing in an area adjacent to the Little Cottonwood Creek in Murray, Utah. McIntyre desired to build a bridge across Little Cottonwood Creek. On August 21, 2006, McIntyre submitted an application to Defendant/Appellee Division of Water Rights of the Utah State Department of Natural Resources (the “Division”) to obtain a permit. Plaintiffs opposed the application because the bridge will cause significant damage to their properties in times of high water flow. Nevertheless, the Division granted the permit. Plaintiffs then filed suit in the Third District Court against McIntyre and the Division challenging the Division’s decision and seeking injunctive relief.

McIntyre filed a motion to dismiss for lack of standing. The district court granted the motion on the ground that Plaintiffs’ alleged property injuries are only potential since they have yet to occur and may not occur in the future. The court stated that “[i]f, down the road,<sup>1</sup> construction of the bridge starts these possible events in action, Plaintiffs would then have standing to assert their claims.” *See* Addendum (“Add.”), at 5, n.1 (district court decision).

This ruling is incorrect as a matter of law. It is well established that even the risk of injury is sufficient for standing purposes and that a party facing such risk need not wait until the harm actually occurs before taking legal action. *See, e.g., Utah Chapter of the*

*Sierra Club v. Utah Air Quality Bd.* (“*Sierra Club*”), 2006 UT 74, ¶ 29 (“If the emissions from the proposed power plant have the potential to harm the health of those persons who live in the area, we see no reason why those residents must actually develop a health problem before they have standing.”) (emphasis added). The trial court’s ruling should be reversed and the case remanded for further proceedings on the merits.

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court’s jurisdiction arises under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

**Whether persons facing potential injury to their properties and homes from a neighbor’s actions have standing to sue to stop the injury before it occurs or rather must wait until their properties are actually damaged.**

Standard of Review. As set forth more fully below, “[w]hether a plaintiff has standing is a question of law” and this Court “accord[s] no deference to the ruling of the trial court.” *Stocks v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 2000 UT App 139, ¶ 9 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Preservation. This issue was the subject of McIntyre’s Motion to Dismiss, which Plaintiffs opposed. (R. 125-35.)

### **DETERMINATIVE LEGAL PROVISIONS**

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14 provides that “any person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer may obtain judicial review.” Whether a person is “aggrieved” under this provision is governed by the traditional standing requirements in the decisions of the Utah Supreme Court.



## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Nature of the Case.**

McIntyre applied to the Division for a permit to build a bridge across Little Cottonwood Creek. Over Plaintiffs' objection, the Division granted the application. Plaintiffs filed suit in the Third District Court challenging the Division's decision and seeking injunctive relief. The district court granted McIntyre's motion to dismiss the action for lack of standing. Plaintiffs appeal.

### **B. Course of Proceedings and Decision Below.**

On August 21, 2006, McIntyre filed an application with the Division to construct a bridge across Little Cottonwood Creek. (R. 3, 10-12.) On September 20, 2006, in response to the application, Plaintiffs submitted an Objection to McIntyre's Application. (R. 3, 14-18.) The Division approved the Application on October 11, 2006. (R. 3, 38-39.) On October 31, 2006, in accordance with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13 and Utah Admin. Code § R655-6-17, Plaintiffs submitted a request for reconsideration of the Division's approval. (R. 4, 41-44.) The Division denied the request for reconsideration on November 17, 2006. (R. 4, 89.)

On December 15, 2006, Plaintiffs filed a Petition for Judicial Review of Informal Administrative Proceedings and Agency Action and Complaint for Injunctive Relief ("Complaint") in the Third District Court challenging the Division's action. (R. 1.) The Complaint named the Division, the State Engineer, and McIntyre as defendants. On January 8, 2007, McIntyre filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss claiming Plaintiffs lacked standing. (R. 112.) On January 29, 2007, McIntyre filed the

actual Motion to Dismiss. (R. 143.) On January 24, 2007, Plaintiffs filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant McIntyre's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 125.) The Court heard oral arguments on April 16, 2007.

On April 20, 2007, the Court issued a Memorandum Decision granting McIntyre's motion to dismiss. (R. 214-18; *see also* Add. at 1-5.) On May 14, 2007, the Court entered an order dismissing all claims, including against the Division, based on its finding that Plaintiffs lacked standing. (R. 220-21; *see also* Add. at 7-8.) On June 11, 2007, Plaintiffs filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. 236, 239.)

### **C. Statement of Facts.**

Plaintiffs' Complaint alleges the following well-pleaded facts: Plaintiffs reside in Murray, Utah along Little Cottonwood Creek. (R. 2-3.) Their neighbor, McIntyre, seeks to build a bridge across the Creek. (R. 3.) The bridge would span an environmentally fragile area which is and has been the site of significant flooding as recently as 1984. (R. 3.) The bridge will diminish the stream's ability to conduct high water flows and thereby increase the risk and danger of flooding, unnecessarily and adversely affecting the surrounding environment. (R. 4-5.) Specifically, construction of the bridge and the associated access ramps will alter the channel of the stream and thereby (1) diminish the natural channel's ability to conduct high water flows, (2) heighten the potential for damming, and thus (3) increase the risk of flooding and the damage caused by flooding in the surrounding areas, including the area where Plaintiffs reside. (R. 5.)

The proposed location of the bridge is already in an area of high flood risk. (R. 5.) The approved bridge, if constructed, increases the already high flood risk and danger to

Plaintiffs and other surrounding properties and landowners. (R. 5.) In the event flooding occurs due in whole or in part to the construction of the bridge, the natural stream environment will be adversely affected and potentially destroyed by the invading flood waters. (R. 5.)

As set forth in the Complaint, Plaintiffs hired an engineering firm, Secor International (“Secor”), to analyze the potential effects of the construction of the bridge in its proposed location. (R. 5.) The Secor Report, which was attached to the Complaint, demonstrates that the approved bridge design provides for a one-foot clearance over a high water mark of 526 cubic feet per second. (R. 5-6.) However, water flows have previously exceeded the one-foot clearance level of the proposed bridge. On June 1, 1984, the flow through Little Cottonwood Creek exceeded 70% of the design water height flow (a water depth of 6.58 feet, or a water flow of 898 cubic feet per second). Such water levels would flow over, and significantly increase the stress on, the bridge as approved. (R. 5-6.) The Secor Report also demonstrates that if flows similar to those in 1984 occur in the stream channel (as altered by the construction of the approved bridge), the bridge could cause the stream banks to overflow and inundate the first-level flood plains on both sides of the stream in the vicinity of the bridge. Such an event will cause significant erosion and damage to Plaintiffs’ properties and to the properties of other neighbors adjacent to the bridge. (R. 5-6.)

Even if an alternative bridge design were considered, the risk of damage to Plaintiffs’ properties would persist. (R. 6.) The Secor Report considers raising the deck of the proposed bridge to 7.5 feet (6.5 feet to address the 1984 water flows plus one

additional foot of clearance). (R. 6.) The access ramps on both sides of the deck would also have to be raised to meet the adjusted deck height. (R. 6.) Although such a design change would accommodate increased water flow, the adjusted access ramps could create a dam for debris caught on the bridge. (R. 6.) Because the bridge deck would be at a higher elevation than the surrounding stream banks, water dammed-up by debris caught on the deck and access ramps could quickly rise above the stream banks and flood onto the surrounding first-level floodplains. (R. 6.)

There has already been subsidence of Plaintiffs' properties in areas close to Little Cottonwood Creek. (R. 6.) Foundation and settling cracks have already appeared in Plaintiffs' homes as a result of the subsidence. (R. 6.) Plaintiffs allege and maintain that if construction of the bridge goes forward, irreparable harm to their homes and properties will result. (R. 6.)

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The law of standing exists to ensure that a plaintiff has a personal stake in the litigation, as opposed to a general or ideological grievance best addressed through the political branches. Standing requirements establish a minimal threshold that weeds out those who lack a concrete interest in the case. But standing analysis is not intended to determine the merits of a plaintiff's claim. Under established Utah law, a party has standing if it (1) asserts that it has been or will be adversely impacted by the challenged actions, (2) alleges a causal connection between the injury, the challenged actions, and the relief requested in the lawsuit, and (3) seeks relief that is substantially likely to redress the alleged injury. *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, ¶ 29.

Plaintiffs readily meet these requirements. As alleged in the Complaint, McIntyre's proposed bridge directly endangers not generalized interests but Plaintiffs' homes and properties. There is a close causal relationship between those potential injuries, Defendants' actions, and the injunctive relief Plaintiffs seek. And the injunctive relief sought would redress the threatened injury.

The district court rejected this straightforward analysis because the physical damage to Plaintiffs' properties has not yet occurred. This was error on two grounds. First, the Utah Supreme Court has expressly held that even "potential" harm can give rise to standing. *Id.* Second, the potential for injury or an increased risk of injury is itself a current injury sufficient to support standing.

None of which is to say that Plaintiffs will ultimately prevail on the merits. The legal merit of Plaintiffs' action is not at issue here. The only issue is whether Plaintiffs have alleged a sufficient stake in the outcome to satisfy the relatively low threshold for standing. They plainly have.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **PLAINTIFFS ARE AGGRIEVED PARTIES WHO HAVE STANDING TO BRING THIS ACTION.**

#### **A. General Standing Principles.**

"Unlike the federal system, the judicial power of the state of Utah is not constitutionally restricted by the language of Article III of the United States Constitution requiring 'cases' and 'controversies,' since no similar requirement exists in the Utah Constitution." *Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145, 1149 (Utah 1983). Nevertheless, Utah

courts require that a plaintiff have a “personal stake” in the outcome of the litigation. *Id.* This requirement “is intended to confine the courts to a role consistent with the separation of powers, and to limit the jurisdiction of the courts to those disputes which are most efficiently and effectively resolved through the judicial process.” *Id.* Adverse parties with a personal stake in the outcome ensure that the court has “a concrete factual context conducive to a realistic appreciation of the consequences of judicial action.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “It is generally insufficient,” therefore, “for a plaintiff to assert only a general interest he shares in common with members of the public at large.” *Id.* at 1148. Such “generalized grievances . . . are more appropriately directed to the legislative and executive branches of the state government.” *Id.*

To assure that a plaintiff challenging the Division’s approval of an application has a personal stake in the outcome, Utah law limits appeals to those who are “aggrieved” by an agency decision. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14 (“any person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer may obtain judicial review”). Whether a party is aggrieved involves the same analysis as the “traditional standing requirement that a plaintiff show particularized injury.” *Washington County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan*, 2003 UT 58, ¶ 1130. The Utah Supreme Court has established three elements to this determination:

First, the party must assert that it has been or will be adversely affected by the challenged actions. Second, the party must allege a causal relationship between the injury to the party, the challenged actions, and the relief requested. Third, the relief requested must be substantially likely to redress the injury claimed. If the party can satisfy these three criteria, the party has standing to pursue its claims before the courts of this state.

*Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, ¶ 19 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

As shown more fully below, Plaintiffs have alleged a particularized injury and have a personal stake in the outcome of this litigation. They have not asserted a generalized grievance and are not trying to use the courts to wage a “political or ideological dispute[] about the performance of government.” *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, ¶ 17. Nor are they “roving environmental ombudsm[e]n seeking to right environmental wrongs wherever [t]he[y] find them,” but rather are “real person[s] who own[] real home[s] . . . in close proximity” to Little Cottonwood Creek and the proposed bridge. *Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper*, 204 F.3d 149, 157 (4th Cir. 2000). There should be no concern here about the adjudication of this case infringing on the proper role of any branch of government.

**B. Standard of Review.**

As noted, “[w]hether a plaintiff has standing is a question of law” and this Court “accord[s] no deference to the ruling of the trial court.” *Stocks v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 2000 UT App 139, ¶ 9 (internal quotation marks omitted). Additionally, this case was dismissed on the pleadings under Rule 12(b)(6). (R. 252 at 12-13.) On a motion to dismiss, the court must presume true all well-pleaded facts in the complaint. *St. Benedict’s Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict’s Hospital*, 811 P.2d 194, 196 (Utah 1991).<sup>1</sup> This is so even for the threshold issue of standing. “For purposes of ruling on a motion to

---

<sup>1</sup> The court may also consider the materials that were attached to the complaint. See *Oakwood Village, LLC v. Albertson’s Inc.*, 2004 UT 101, ¶ 10 (“The rules are clear that documents attached to a complaint are incorporated into the pleadings for purposes of judicial notice and are fair game for this court to consider in addition to the complaint’s averments.”).

dismiss for want of standing, both the trial and reviewing courts must accept as true all material allegations of the complaint, and must construe the complaint in favor of the complaining party.” *Warth v. Seldin*, 422 U.S. 490, 501 (1975).

Thus, although it is the plaintiff’s burden to demonstrate standing, “[a]t the pleading stage, general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss, [the court] presume[s] that general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.” *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992).<sup>2</sup> It is enough at the pleading stage, for example, for the plaintiffs to “allege[] that they could prove causation” – an element of standing – if given the chance: “that is all that is required at this phase.” *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, ¶ 32. Otherwise, a full investigation of causation on a motion to dismiss “would, in many cases, supplant the trial process on the merits of the underlying claim.” *Id.* And it “would be unduly burdensome for litigants to invest the time and money in gathering the evidence necessary to prove their claim only to be denied standing.” *Id.*

Here, the matter was decided on the pleadings, so this Court must accept as true the material allegations in the Complaint and construe them and all reasonable inferences therefrom in favor of Plaintiffs.

---

<sup>2</sup> The plaintiff’s burden increases “with the manner and degree of evidence required at the successive stages of the litigation,” so that in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, for example, a plaintiff could no longer rely on the pleadings. *Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 561. But even at the summary judgment stage, a plaintiff only has to establish that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether standing exists. *See Central Delta Water Agency v. United States*, 306 F.3d 938, 947 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing *Steel Company v. Citizens for a Better Environment*, 523 U.S. 83, 104 (1998)).



**C. The Complaint Establishes Plaintiffs' Standing.**

**1. Plaintiffs have alleged and will prove personalized injuries.**

McIntyre's primary argument, and the ruling of the district court, was that Plaintiffs are not "aggrieved" parties because their injuries are only "potential." But this ignores the fact, well-recognized by the Utah Supreme Court and courts around the country, that the potential for injury and increased risk of injury are sufficient to establish standing.

The Utah Supreme Court made this principle clear in *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74. In that case, the Sierra Club sought judicial review after the Executive Secretary of the Division of Air Quality granted a permit to the Sevier Power Company to construct a coal-fired power plant near the Colorado Plateau, an area known for its "stunning geography and outdoor recreational sites." *Id.* ¶ 2. To support its standing, the Sierra Club submitted affidavits from three of its members. The first, Mr. Cass, was a videographer who had filmed and produced documentaries on the Colorado Plateau. He alleged that the plant would emit pollutants that would impair visibility and affect his livelihood, and also that the plant would decrease the value of his property and impair his health. *Id.* ¶ 4. The second, Ms. Roberts, alleged that the plant would emit pollutants that would contaminate the soil and damage the crops of her nearby farm, and also that the emissions would affect her health. *Id.* ¶ 5. The third, Mr. Cherry, expressed "general concerns about the adverse health effects and the inversions" the plant would cause. *Id.* ¶ 6.

The Court held that Mr. Cass and Ms. Roberts had alleged sufficient facts to confer standing, but not Mr. Cherry. “Mr. Cass and Ms. Roberts have met the adverse effects requirement because they either live or recreate, or both, near the site of the plant and have alleged injuries particular to them, rather than expressing generalized concerns about the plant’s impact on the public at large.” *Id.* ¶ 28. In contrast, Mr. Cherry had alleged only a generalized concern. “Expressions of concern, without a claim of actual or potential injury to the party, are too generalized to qualify as a distinct and palpable injury under the traditional criteria.” *Id.* ¶ 27 (emphasis added).

In short, Mr. Cass’s and Ms. Robert’s specific concerns about potential health risks were sufficient to confer standing – even before the harm actually developed. “If the emissions from the proposed power plant have the potential to harm the health of those persons who live in the area, we see no reason why those residents must actually develop a health problem before they have standing.” *Id.* ¶ 29 (emphasis added).

The Complaint alleges specific potential harms to Plaintiffs’ properties. Plaintiffs attached to their Complaint hydrological engineering reports from the engineering firm of Secor International, Inc. (R. 64-87.) While Plaintiffs have not had the opportunity to conduct discovery and to perform extensive engineering evaluations regarding the impact of the proposed bridge, the Secor Report establishes the following:

Building the proposed bridge . . . could create a channel constriction – a point in the channel which would, under high flow conditions, provid[e] an opportunity for typical debris, vegetation/trees, rocks, and any other urban materials to catch, backing up water. If the stream flow is backed up, inundation of the 1st level flood plane on both sides of the stream channel is at significant risk.

\*\*\*\*\*

The Brown Residence is located on the river terrace, directly above the escarpment along the west side of the Creek. With the instabilities observed in and around the escarpment, as well as the settlement cracks, further erosion at the escarpment may increase the risks for significant property damage. As proposed, construction of the bridge could increase the potential for further escarpment erosion and therefore, increase the potential for significant property damage or worse.

(R. 64 [emphasis added].)

Currently, a steep, exposed hill, devoid of plant growth, grass or any foliation lies directly to the east between the Browns' home and the Creek, which escarpment provides lateral support to the Browns' home. Over time, erosion has worn away the steep exposed hill exposing alluvial soils at its base to the ever-running flow of the creek.

(R. 25.) That escarpment is the west bank of the creek, just down grade from the proposed bridge.

McIntyre has argued that the alleged potential damage is not a "particularized claim of damage to the Plaintiffs" because the property where the escarpment sits is owned by another neighbor that is not a party to this suit. (R. 117.) However, erosion to the west bank escarpment has already caused significant settlement and signs of collapse on the Browns' property and in their home. As explained by Secor, accelerated erosion resulting from flooding on the first-level flood plane caused by the flow restriction of the proposed bridge will result in additional settlement, collapse, and ultimately the destruction of the Browns' property.

The Sorenson property is also situated above and adjacent to property lying directly in the first level flood plain. Damage to that property will undermine the lateral

support to the Sorenson property. In sum, a flood on the first-level flood plane will impair the integrity of the ground supporting Plaintiffs' homes.

Simply put, the construction of the bridge has the potential of causing significant damage to Plaintiffs' properties. Flooding of the first-level flood plane will cause further erosion of the escarpment, increasing the potential "for significant property damage or worse." (R. 64.) This is true with respect to the property owned by the Sorensens and the property owned by the Browns.

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