2007

Lawrence Brown, Marilyn Brown, Joseph Sorenson, and Kathleen Sorenson, individuals v. The Division of Water Rights of the Department of Natural Resources of the State of Utah, Jerry D. Olds, in his capacity as the Utah State Engineer, and James A. McIntyre, an individual : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the remedy Appellants seek - reconsideration and revocation of the Permit - cannot redress the alleged injury. The bridge has been built. The Permit, which is essentially a building permit, much like one issued to build a house, has expired. Therefore, even if this Court remands this case to the trial court and Appellants establish standing, there is nothing left to review. The permit had a time limit in which to complete construction and the construction has been completed. Nothing in Appellants' complaint, the law, or the Permit itself requires the bridge to be dismantled upon expiration of the permit, even if it could be re-examined by the State Engineer.

Also, Appellants simply are not in harms way and cannot establish they were aggrieved parties who were entitled to appeal to the District Court; nor does their complaint itself make that claim. Whether one is an "aggrieved party" under the statute is governed by the traditional standing requirements. However, under Utah's standing test all three factors must be met. Here, the factual allegations of Appellants' 38 paragraph complaint do not meet the test.

Appellant's complaint fails to allege that the Sorensens or Browns have or will suffer any particularized injury. Both Sorensens and Browns are unable to allege that they have been or will be injured because the bridge was built.

Unlike the affiants in *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, here, there is no claim that if the bridge is built, necessarily Appellants will be flooded or will suffer erosion, but rather that building the bridge may increase the risk of erosion to an escarpment (which is owned by a third party) when either the stream flow is abnormally high or is dammed by McIntyre's bridge. If the escarpment is eroded then Appellant Brown may suffer exacerbation of their existing settling problem. However, Appellant's own experts are unable to causally connect Brown's settling to escarpment erosion.

Moreover, no paragraph of Appellants' complaint suggests a plausible connection between the McIntyre bridge and any harm to the Appellants. At most, an attachment to the complaint, the Secor report commissioned by Appellants, states that the entire west bank and the escarpment area are already at significant risk of erosion without the bridge. The bridge only potentially increases the risk. But neither of the Appellants own the escarpment property which Secor suggests as being at risk of erosion, nor for that matter does McIntyre. Only McIntyre and his neighbor Calder own any property on the West bank in the potential flood plain. The sole particularized injury either appellant

can point to is settlement of Brown's property which the Secor report suggests needs further study to causally understand. (R. at 26, recommendations.)

Finally, the Appellants acknowledged that they had made a calculated choice not to seek temporary or preliminary injunctive relief at the outset and to rely upon permanent injunctive relief should the bridge be constructed. (R. 132.) It is unclear from Appellants' complaint how a permanent injunction once a bridge is constructed could ever be issued to enjoin construction.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANTS ARE NOT AGGRIEVED PARTIES AND ARE UNABLE TO MEET THE TRADITIONAL STANDING REQUIREMENTS.

Appellants correctly set forth the analysis necessary to determine whether a party has standing.

The first step in the inquiry will be directed to the traditional criteria of the plaintiff's personal stake in the controversy. One who is adversely affected by governmental actions has standing under this criterion. One who is not adversely affected has no standing. A mere allegation of an adverse impact is not sufficient. There must also be some causal relationship alleged between the injury to the plaintiff, the governmental actions and the relief requested. Because standing questions are usually raised prior to the introduction of any evidence, we will necessarily be required to make a judgment whether proof of such a causal relationship is difficult or impossible and whether the relief requested is substantially likely to redress the injury claimed.

Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145, 1150 (1983). An examination of Appellants' Complaint in the Court below reveals its deficiency.

A. APPELLANTS HAVE FAILED TO ALLEGE A DISTINCT AND PALPABLE INJURY.

McIntyre concedes that for motion to dismiss purposes, all the factual allegations of Appellants' complaint are taken as true. However, although the exhibits attached to the complaint are considered to be a part of the complaint, they may not be used to supply necessary allegations.

While an exhibit may be considered as a part of a pleading to clarify or explain the same, an exhibit to a pleading cannot serve the purpose of supplying necessary material averments, and the content of the exhibit is not to be taken as part of the allegations of the pleading itself. (Citations omitted)

Girard v. Appleby, 660 P.2d 245, 248 (Utah 1983) (overruled on other grounds - attorney fees).

Standing is a material averment and necessary to the decision of the Court below – it may not be supplied from the exhibits. To establish standing and, therefore, be “aggrieved” under the statute, a plaintiff must “show that he *has or would suffer* a distinct and palpable injury that gives rise to a *personal stake* in the outcome.” *Washington County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan*, 2003 UT 58, ¶17 (quoting *Nat'l Parks & Conservation Ass'n v. State Board*, 869 P.2d 909, 913 (Utah 1993) emphases added; additional citations omitted).

1. The Sorensons do not have standing because they have not alleged or demonstrated even possible injury.

In the case of the Sorensons, the Appellants' complaint does not allege any particularized injury which might befall them because the Permit issued or

McIntyre built a bridge. They simply claim “me too” to suppositional injury to the Browns. Joseph Sorenson is named once as a party, Kathleen Sorenson is named once as a party and Sorensens are named in the paragraph describing the location of the bridge. (Complaint ¶¶ 3, 4, 12.) As is indicated in the Secor Report, neither of the Appellants live in the first level flood plan as does McIntyre, thus neither are in danger of flooding. Nothing in the complaint reasonably suggests how Sorenson’s might be harmed. At best in the complaint, the Sorensens give “mere allegation of an adverse impact” and there is no “causal relationship alleged between the injury to Plaintiff, the governmental actions and the relief requested.” *Jenkins*, at 1150.

Importantly in Appellants’ response to McIntyre’s motion to dismiss they failed to inform the court below of the nature of the damage which might befall their property if McIntyre were to construct a bridge. (R. 129.) Appellants simply relied upon the allegations of their complaint. The allegations of paragraph 30 state that construction of a bridge will result in irreparable harm and damage to plaintiffs and their property, but fail to particularize how. (R. 6.) Even though the court below was obliged to accept as true the factual allegations of Plaintiffs’ complaint, it was not required to accept Plaintiffs’ conclusions, nor was it required to supplement those allegations with the attachments.

2. The Browns' past and continuing subsidence is not an "injury" for standing purposes.

In Browns' case, the allegations of the complaint are likewise deficient. They claim that erosion of the escarpment may cause a loss of lateral support. However, it is only by referring to the attachments (the expert report) that one can discover any particulars. Most importantly, their expert report concludes that bank has been eroding since it became dry land¹. Browns built their house atop the escarpment anyway. That escarpment's only lateral support derives solely from property which no party to this action owns.

Appellants' expert suggested that the escarpment (owned by a third party) needs to be armored regardless of whether a bridge is built, yet the worst floods in recorded history did not cause the escarpment to collapse. The Court below expressed concern about the amount of speculation to counsel for appellants:

"How far do I stretch the would suffer[sic]er, cause that seems to be the speculative aspect of it. If we reach the 1984 level - if, you know to that extent. They would possibly suffer this injury. How far do I stretch that so it stays within reality rather than speculation?"

(R.252, T. P. 7, lines 9-14.)

With that factual background the court below concluded that there was an insufficient factual allegation of damage and nexus. The trial court simply refused to speculate in order to afford Appellants' standing. (R. 252, p. 7, lines 8-14.)

¹ R. 24 (Likely that happened thousands of years ago.)

B. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO ALLEGE A PLAUSIBLE CAUSATION OF INJURY.

The Appellants also failed to establish any causal connection between the stream alteration permit and increased injury to property. *Sierra Club*, at ¶32, requires such an allegation. The permit itself requires that once constructed the bridge abutments shall not encroach upon the stream bed or banks or decrease the stream carrying capacity.

The Secor report annexed to Appellants complaint speculates that the bridge may not be built according to plan or that floating debris might be caught by the bridge deck and a damming effect caused by the bridge deck; however, it fails to explain how any damming effect caused by a bridge several hundred feet upstream would do more than simply cause flooding on the first level flood plain (on only McIntyre's property) which would return to the creek well upstream of the Calder escarpment (which may or may not provide Brown lateral support). Nothing in Appellants' complaint describes a necessary cause and effect relationship between an injury Browns' claim they may suffer and McIntyre's construction.

Nor does the Secor report address why McIntyre, when faced with such flooding of his own home and property, would simply sit by idly. The bridge design provides for a removable deck which could be lifted off its supports in the reverse of the manner in which it was placed on them. In short, nothing in Appellants' complaint describes a necessary cause and effect relationship between

an injury Browns' claim they may suffer and the Permit or McIntyre's construction.

C. REDRESSABILITY AND MOOTNESS.

Appellants are asking this Court to reverse the decision of Judge Iwasaki and send the case back to him for a trial on the merits. Those merits would be whether a permit, which has expired on its face, should have been issued in the first place.

Appellants rely on the analysis used in *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, to argue that the relief sought would redress Appellants injuries. However, this case is unquestionably distinguishable from *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74. The permit issued in *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT 74, was an operational permit required for use of the plant's operation. Here, there exists no permit required for McIntyre to use the bridge. Rather, the permit is akin to a building permit, allowing for the creek environment to be disturbed during construction. The law requires that to construct a bridge over a stream, an applicant must first have a permit – but there is no similar requirement to use a bridge. The law further requires the State Engineer to set a time limit on construction, Utah Code Ann. §73-3-10(5) (1997). The time limit of the permit has expired.

Appellants have failed to demonstrate that denying the stream alteration permit at this juncture will redress their suppositional injury of increased property

subsidence. Appellants did suggest in response to McIntyre's suggestion of mootness and motion to dismiss that the mere filing of a complaint was sufficient to put McIntyre on notice that he might have to remove the bridge if the court ultimately determined that the Permit was improvidently granted and they were under no obligation to press forward with seeking injunctive relief. McIntyre was unable to find support for Appellants view and none was cited in the response.

Notably, the Appellants never sought any relief requiring the dismantling of the bridge. That issue was never before Judge Iwasaki, nor can it be here. Rather it is an issue for a different case, should Appellants chose to bring it. In a somewhat ironic twist, removal of the bridge would require another application for a different stream alteration permit.

II. APPELLANTS HAVE FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE.

To an extent, Appellants attack the evidentiary bases upon which Judge Iwasaki made his ruling. As such, they are required to marshal the evidence that would support the particularized set of facts to which he applied the legal standard and then show that he erred in finding those particular facts. This requires Appellants to “marshal all the evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court and then demonstrate that even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of fact.” *Save Our Schs v. Bd. of Educ.*, 2005 UT 55, ¶10 (citations omitted).

Appellants have not done so.

Appellants requested a transcript of only the April 16, 2007 hearing (R. 248.) However, it is clear that Judge Iwasaki also relied upon evidence adduced at the TRO hearing held on March 23, 2007 in order to make his decision (R. 252, p. 3, lines 9-18.) The TRO hearing was held at the Appellants' behest and was "on record."

Appellants, however, failed to order that transcript and because it was not ordered the record is unclear².

Appellants have the burden of ordering the transcript and marshaling the evidence. *Eggett v. Wasatch Energy Corp.*, 201 UT. App. 226, ¶¶41-43. To the extent that Judge Iwasaki applied the legal standard for standing to a particularized set of facts, some of which were adduced at the March 23, hearing, Appellants have failed to marshal the evidence supporting his decision. While it is conceded that it is difficult to marshal without a transcript of the March 23, 2007 hearing, the burden was on the Appellants and it cannot be said that they fulfilled that obligation.


CONCLUSION

Judge Iwasaki's decision should be affirmed because Appellants' claims are

² The minute entry reflects that the hearing was "on record" however, it was reputedly held in chambers so a transcript may not be available.

moot, they did not have standing and they have failed to marshal the evidence that supported his decision.